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This report is issued by the Superannuation Commission (ABN 93 598 914 092) as trustee of the 
Retirement Benefits Fund (ABN 51 737 334 954).

Prepared by the Office of the Superannuation Commission, a branch of the Department of Treasury and 
Finance.

The offices of RBF are located at Ground Floor, 21 Kirksway Place, Hobart, Tasmania and Level 3, Henty 
House, 1 Civic Square, Launceston, Tasmania.

The Contributory Scheme member booklet, associated factsheets and other scheme information is 
available on the RBF website www.rbf.com.au on the Forms & Publications page. 
To contact the RBF Enquiry Line please call 1800 622 631.
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The Retirement Benefits Fund stands at 
$2.1 billion 

The total value of member’s accrued benefits is
$7.3 billion

We’ve cut our operating costs by nearly one third 
of what they were under the previous Trustee
 
The average life pension paid is $32,700 per 
annum

Nearly 60% of our pension members are aged 70 
or older

We have approximately 9,500 pension members, 
5,250 contributing members and 10,000 CPA 
holders

The majority of our members have a benefit worth 
under $200k

5% of members have a benefit worth over $1m

Defined 
benefit 

account 
holders

58%

42%

59%

41%

Value of 
accrued 
benefits

57%
22%

16%
5%

Accrued benefits for all schemes by value

Under $200k

$200k-$499k

$500k-$999k

$1m +

Total actuarial value of accrued benefits $7.3 bn

Member benefit level

About us

The majority of our members are 
female, however the total value of 
accrued benefits for our female 
members is 18% less than for our 
male members.

To find out how to improve your 
end benefit book an appointment 
with a Superannuation Consultant 
by calling the RBF Enquiry Line on 
1800 622 631.

90% of our pension 

members reside in 

Tasmania.

2017-18 Facts and Figures at a glance
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Total 
benefits 

paid
$415m

 
Pensions 

paid 
$312m

The $415 million in payments 
was funded by:

$273m in employer payments

+

$56m (net of tax) in member 
and employer contributions

+

$87m generated by the Fund.

We processed 429 new retirement benefits and 166 other 
benefits, with a combined value of $100m.

This exceeded our target of 6.5%.

2017-18 Member outcomes

We established 315 new RBF Life Pensions.

Rollovers 
to other funds 

$75m 

 
Cash 

payments 
$21m

$176m in funds was generated from 
investment activity

After fees and tax, 
we had a net return of 7.51%
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Message from the Chair of the Commission

We are pleased to submit to you a report on the activity of the Superannuation Commission (Commission) from 
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018.  The Commission has completed its first full year as trustee of the Retirement 
Benefits Fund and has been well supported by the Department of Treasury and Finance, particularly the Office of 
the Superannuation Commission (OSC). 
  
The 2017-18 year was successful from a financial returns perspective.  Fund investment returns of 7.51% 
after taxation and investment fees for this financial year exceeded the Commission’s current long term target 
of 6.5%, which reflects the level of returns assumed by the State Actuary when valuing the State’s unfunded 
superannuation liability and as provided in your guideline to the Commission in relation to investments. 
 
A key milestone was the transition of outsourced member administration from Mercer to Link in February.  Many 
months of hard work and due diligence were performed by the OSC and Treasury staff, both preceding and 
subsequent to transition. 
 
Major areas of focus, over and above business-as-usual service delivery, included:
• settling unresolved issues prior to transition with the previous administrator, including breaches;
• negotiation and communication to stakeholders of a limited service period covering the transition period;
• ensuring that all member and fund data was able to be securely transferred between administrators;
• reviewing and re-writing fund business rules and procedures;
• reviewing and editing member letters, forms and factsheets;
• development and launch of a new public and member secure website.
 
The limited service period on administrator transition required a structured program to communicate to members 
the key dates and impacts. Information was made available on the RBF website, at member interviews, through 
consultation with member representative groups in Hobart and Launceston and through targeted mailings. 

We have been working through a range of post-transitional considerations, and the return to normal service 
delivery standards has been longer than expected, largely because of the need to bed down unexpected system 
issues.  This has meant that the experience for some members, particularly those that have been seeking to 
access their entitlements, such as exiting work and entering retirement, has been outside the typical timelines 
that are consistent with business-as-usual arrangements.  The Commission appreciates the patience and 
understanding shown by members in these unusual transition-related circumstances and the commitment of the 
OSC and Treasury staff to achieving transition.

Annual Report of the Superannuation Commission 
for the period ended 30 June 2018
 
 
Hon Peter Gutwein MP 
Treasurer 
Parliament House 
HOBART TAS 7000
 
 
Dear Treasurer



Superannuation Commission Annual Report 2017-18 - Page 7

In addition to the transition project, some of the major areas of work for the OSC, have included: 
• transition of the Fund’s financial reporting from Treasury to Link, with the preparation of this year’s annual 

financial reports in full compliance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 1056) for the first time; 
• working with Link to provide benefit projection tools online for members.  This has proven to be more difficult 

than expected and there was a strong focus on ensuring this is correct before launch;
• continuing to develop new governance frameworks that will provide appropriate oversight of the operations of 

the schemes and assurance that the Commission’s trustee, legislative and scheme-related responsibilities are 
being met. 

In summary, the year ending 30 June 2018 has again been a period of major change for the Commission and the 
OSC.  Throughout this, our Hobart and Launceston offices have continued to deliver high quality services to our 
members.  

My sincere thanks and appreciation go to all OSC staff for their commitment to the organisation and also to our 
members.  The positive attitude of staff and their ability to manage change through some challenging months is 
a credit to all.  In continuing to work collaboratively with our outsourced providers the Commission is confident 
that service standards for members will be greatly improved over the coming months throughout the core 
administration areas. 
 
Yours sincerely 

Yours sincerely 
 

 

Kerry Adby  
Chair
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Purpose and stakeholders

 
 

Our members include:
• Tasmanian public sector employees still in the workforce and contributing to the Fund;
• former public sector employees who have retained a finanical interest in the Fund;
• former workers who have retired from the workforce and are receiving life pensions from the Fund; and
• spouses of life pensioners that are in receipt of reversionary pensions, following the death of a life pension 

member.

Since the establishment of the Office of the Superannuation Commission in April 2017, a continuous stream of 
work has been undertaken to prepare for the transition to a new fund administration provider, Link Group.  This 
has been the major project undertaken by the OSC and all of the staff have been involved in various forms over 
the annual review period. 
 
Reviews were undertaken of the business rules, member letters and collateral and a new public website was 
developed.  With member administration being transferred from Mercer to Link during February 2018, and due 
to the complex nature of the transfer, we needed to establish a stable member-data platform. As a result, it was 
necessary to implement a limited service period in the lead up to the transfer.  This was communicated in advance 
to both contributors and pensioners (and their representative organisations) and resulted in minimal disruption to 
the majority of our members. The Commission wishes to thank members for their patience and understanding. 

In addition to those planned impacts on service delivery, there have been a range of unanticipated impacts.  
Unfortunately, technical, system and configuration issues have arisen that have resulted in some of the planned 
tools/systems based approaches not being delivered on time by Link.  In order to continue to meet members’ 
needs manual work-arounds were implemented to overcome these disruptions, which means some of our 
transactions have been delivered outside our typical timeframes.  We acknowledge these issues and continue 

The Superannuation Commission’s purpose 
The Commission was established under the Public Sector 
Superannuation Reform Act 2016 as the sole Trustee of the 
Retirement Benefits Fund. It has the responsibility for managing 
the Fund so as to maximise the return earned on the Fund, having 
regard to maintaining the integrity of the Fund and providing for 
payments from it to members.  It also administers the receipt of 
contributions and the payment of benefits; establishes policies in 
respect of the administration of the Fund and the investment of 
money standing to the credit of the Fund and adopts strategies 
designed to achieve those policies. 
 
The Commission is also Trustee of the State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme Trust and the Tasmanian 
Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme Trust. In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Commission must ensure 
that its functions and powers are performed and exercised in the best interests of the membership. 

The day to day running of the defined benefit schemes on behalf of the Commission is managed by the Office of 
the Superannuation Commission, within the Department of Treasury and Finance, including the management of 
the Commission’s outsourced service providers.  
 

Key stakeholder: members
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to work with Link to resolve outstanding technical issues to enable streamlined business-as-usual system-based 
processes to drive the administration of our schemes.

 
 
 
 
 
The Commission, via the Office of the Superannuation Commission, has continued to work with employers 
on queries and resolution of issues.  Our ability to administer the schemes and pay members their correct 
entitlements is totally dependent on employers providing us timely and accurate member-data. 
 
Employers were one of the major stakeholders that were engaged in the lead up to the transfer of administrator.  A 
number of forums and workshops were held to present information and gain valuable feedback on new systems 
and methods of submitting employer files. This level of engagement and collaboration will continue leading up 
to the launch of Employer Online in later 2018, and we thank all employers for their patience and contribution in 
working through these challenges to date. 

As part of our planning for transition, the OSC actively worked with agencies in the lead up to the limited service 
period to identify retiring members and case manage these members through the transition to reduce any 
negative impact or delays in benefit payments. 
   
  

 

Defined benefits schemes pay benefits to members determined by a formula, based on salary and service 
information.  
 
Unlike benefits in accumulation schemes, benefits to our members are generally not directly impacted by 
investment earnings. Rather, the ultimate beneficiary of the good investment performance of the Fund is the 
Tasmanian Government and the Tasmanian taxpayer.  
 
The funds within the Retirement Benefits Fund are invested by the Superannuation Commission, with the earnings 
going towards meeting the emerging costs of retirement benefits to former public sector workers.  The better the 
level of investment earnings of the Fund, the lesser is the amount of funding that needs to be directed from the 
State Budget to meet emerging costs, and vice versa.  

Key stakeholder: employers

Government Departments, Government Businesses, TasWater and University of 
Tasmania

Key stakeholder: Tasmanian Government
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As at 30 June 2018 the Commission was also the owner of the building situated at 21 Kirksway Place in Hobart. 
This asset was also held by the Fund when the Commission took over Trustee responsibilities from the former RBF 
Board on 31 March 2017. During the 2018-19 financial year it is anticipated the Commission will sell this property 
to the Crown and reinvest those funds within the Russell Investments framework.

Investment performance
The Superannuation Commission has established a target annual rate of investment earnings of 6.5% after 
investment fees and tax, which was set having regard to the actuarial assumptions in the latest triennial review 
of the Contributory Scheme. The investment performance for each of the five defined benefit sub-funds for the 
period between 1 July 2017 and 30 June 2018 after investment fees and tax is set out in the table below. The table 
shows that the annualised performance of the five defined benefit sub-funds have outperformed the target annual 
rate of investment earnings of 6.5% after investment fees and tax. 

Defined Benefit Scheme
Annual 

Performance 
2017-18*

Contributory Scheme 7.51%

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund
7.51%

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund
7.51%

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 7.51%

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation 
Scheme 

7.51%

*The assets were invested in a single pool over the period.  

Investment overview
  
As a part of the Government’s Public Sector Superannuation Reform 
structural model, the Commission was established based on an 
implemented consultant model with respect to the management of 
its investment of the Retirement Benefits Fund. The implemented 
investment consultant to the Commission is Russell Investment 
Management Limited (Russell Investments). 

The majority of Fund assets were invested in Russell Investments’ 
products as at 30 June 2018, however, the Commission also continued 
to hold four property and infrastructure investments outside the Russell 
Investments framework.  Those arrangements were a legacy feature of 
the Fund following the wind-up of the former RBF Board on 31 March 
2017.  These investments are held under a custody arrangement with 
JP Morgan. The long term approach for holding these property and 
infrastructure assets is under review by the Commission.
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The Superannuation Commission invests the contributions made by members of the five defined benefit schemes 
administered by the Commission.  The Commission seeks to maintain stability in the reported funding position 
of the Contributory Scheme (and the other schemes) by providing relatively consistent returns while achieving 
investment targets. This stability avoids unplanned shocks to the Government’s budget forecasts for meeting the 
emerging costs of defined benefits. 
 
In determining how the defined benefit schemes should be invested, the primary focus is on establishing a 
long-term Strategic Asset Allocation. In accordance with section 11 of the Public Sector Superannuation Reform 
Act 2016, the Commission has also had regard to the guidelines issued by the Treasurer on 2 May 2017 in 
establishing its investment framework. 

Russell Investments have assisted the Commission in determining its overall investment objectives and 
risk tolerances to establish the Strategic Asset Allocation. Having established a Strategic Asset Allocation, 
the Commission considers recommendations by Russell Investments as to fund managers and investment 
products that meet the Commission’s investment criteria. Russell Investments provide ongoing reporting on the 
performance of the various funds in which the Commission is invested and on the performance of the underlying 
fund managers.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
As discussed, the Tasmanian Government is the key stakeholder for the investment performance of the 
Contributory Scheme because it is responsible for funding an actuarially determined share of the benefits payable 
to members of that Scheme.  The benefits are generally a function of a member’s years of service and salary 
(rather than the investment performance of the Fund) and therefore the higher the investment returns achieved, 
the less the Tasmanian Government will need to pay to fund Contributory Scheme benefits over the long term.  
Some benefit options available to members of the schemes are also a function of Fund investment performance, 
so there is also an important member-interest in the performance of the Fund. 

 

17%

20%

14%14%

8%

12%

12%
3%

Strategic Asset Allocation

Australian Equities

International Equities

Property

Infrastructure

Absolute Return

Fixed Interest

Alternative Debt

Cash
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Investments as at 30 June 2018

Asset Class Fund Ending Market Value 
($ Million)

Australian Shares Russell Investments Australian Share Tracker Fund 367.6

International Shares
Russell Investments Tax Effective Global Shares Fund 322.8

Russell Investments Global Opportunities Fund - $A Hedged 102.4

Fixed Interest
Russell Investments Australian Bond Fund 115.2

Russell Investments International Bond Fund - $A Hedged 115.5

Property

21 Kirksway Place, Hobart 20.8

Lend Lease APPF Commercial 103.0

Lend Lease APPF Retail 56.5

AMP Diversified Property Fund 66.4

Vanguard Australian Property Securities Index Fund 71.9

Infrastructure
Hastings UTA 194.1

Russell Investments Global Listed Infrastructure Fund – Hedged 89.3

Absolute Return Russell Investments Multi-Asset Growth Strategy Fund 149.1

Alternative Debt
Russell Investments Unconstrained Bond Fund 163.0

Russell Investments Global High Yield Fund 68.6

Cash
Russell Investments Australian Cash Fund 31.1

Russell Investments Australian Cash Enhanced Fund 53.6

This data is not directly comparable to the information on investments in the Statement of Financial position on page 25 as it is prepared 
on a different basis, eg it includes accrued distributions whereas investment income receivable is shown separately in the Statement of 
Financial Position.
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Comparative Investment performance
It is challenging to accurately perform a peer comparison with similar public sector defined benefit funds due 
to differences in investment objectives, liability profile and some combine their reporting of defined benefit and 
accumulation schemes.
 
The following investment options of other Australian Public Sector Superannuation Schemes have been identified 
as having a composition of growth and defensive assets broadly comparable to the Contributory Scheme:
• First State Super (New South Wales) - Growth Investment Option;
• QSuper (Queensland) - Moderate Investment Option; and
• ESS Super (Victoria) - Balanced Investment Option.
 
The table below presents the reported investment performance of those investment options (net of fees and 
tax) compared to the RBF investment performance for the 2017-18 financial year.  It should be noted that these 
investment options do not necessarily represent exclusively the performance of defined benefit assets for the 
other Public Sector Superannuation Schemes. 

Source: Russell Investments

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

RBF

First State Super Growth

QSuper Balanced

ESS Super Balanced

% per annum

Annual investment returns 2017-18
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Outcomes of Superannuation Reforms
One of the objectives of the public sector superannuation reforms was to reduce the costs of administering the 
RBF defined benefit schemes, and to improve the transparency of these costs by making them an identified 
appropriation (through the Department of Treasury and Finance) in the State Budget.

The reforms have delivered on these objectives.  The average annual administration costs attributed by the former 
RBF Board to the defined benefit schemes over the period 2010-11 to 2015-16 was $18.8m.  By comparison, the 
2018-19 Budget appropriation for supporting the administration of the schemes was around $12.5m, a reduction 
of nearly one-third on those historic levels.

One way of measuring such costs is to calculate administration costs as a percentage of the funds under 
management, known as an Administration Management Expense Ratio (MER).  The MER is typically an important 
measure for superannuation funds from the member’s perspective, because those administration expenses 
typically come from member’s funds, and are not available to invest and grow entitlements.

In the case of the Commission, these costs are not borne by members, rather they are funded by Tasmanian 
taxpayers, but nonetheless, the MER is an important indicator of the cost-effectiveness of the schemes.

The average MER for the Contributory Scheme during the years from 2010-11 to 2015-16 was 1.16%.

The percentage for the 2017-18 financial year, which was the first full year of operation following the establishment 
of the Superannuation Commission in April 2017, was 0.54%. 

By way of comparison, the chart below shows how the MER for the RBF currently broadly compares with RBF 
trends and others funds in the superannuation sector.  The chart demonstrates that administration costs as a 
share of funds under management in the not for profit sector (ie, industry, corporate and public sector funds) 
have been stable over the past decade, at around 0.2 per cent, whereas for-profit funds tend to have much 
higher administration costs relative to funds under management, although these have trended down over time.  
Notwithstanding the recent stepped reduction in administration costs to funds under management for the RBF, 
the diseconomies of scale in operating a scheme for around 26,000 members are apparent when comparing the 
current RBF performance relative to other public sector funds. 
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Member Services
 
As the trustee, the Commission arranges through its service providers 
(the OSC and Link) the following services to members, including:
• face to face member interviews;
• member interviews via telephone;
• workplace visits and education seminars;
• workplace interviews; and
• the development of the new member secure website, 

Member Access.

We have maintained retirement planning services to members through what has been a challenging period. 
The transition to Link Group operations has taken longer than expected and required the adoption of some 
manual process that have worked in tandem with our usual service delivery channels. For example, online benefit 
estimates have taken longer on transition to develop than expected and a manual process was implemented so 
that these estimates could be accessed via the Enquiry Line.  
 
Our Super Consultants (based in Hobart and Launceston) have remained available to conduct member interviews 
and assist members with their retirement planning. The Consultants continue to travel to Burnie and Devonport to 
conduct member interviews on a regular basis.
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We are particularly grateful and appreciative to our membership for showing an understanding of the 
circumstances and also for recognising that some things have taken longer (or have had to be accessed in a 
different way) than under our business-as-usual circumstances.

Our consultants also made 15 overnight trips to the North West coast, 
conducting 120 interviews in both Devonport and Burnie.

We held 1600 face to face interviews with our members. 
571 were held in Launceston and 1029 in Hobart.
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Launch of new public website
For the first part of the year the RBF website (www.rbf.com.au) was hosted by the previous administrator. The 
transition to the Link Group provided an opportunity for the site to be integrated into the Department of Treasury 
and Finance’s public website, achieving a significant cost saving.

The Member Services team worked on the initial development of the site, including assessing the scope of work 

and the structure of the site. All of the content and design of the website is administered in-house, within the OSC. 
 

Member Access site
The new member secure website, administered by 
the Link Group was launched in February 2018. The 
Member Access site allows members to register on 
the site using their existing member number. While 
there have been significant delays in being able 
to provide benefit estimates and perform benefit 
projections on the site, benefit estimates have 
remained available through the Enquiry Line and 
Super Consultants respectively. This functionality has 
now been developed by Link and the tool is available 
for member use. 

Employer Support and Employer Access
The OSC has continued to work closely with agencies 
this year. In addition to undertaking work place visits, 
the focus of support has been the integration of 
scheme data collection into Link Group operations. 
Several forums were held with key payroll staff 
regarding the new arrangements which consisted 
of a temporary data collection process, followed 
by the implementation of the Link Group Employer 
Access system scheduled for release later in 2018. 
Regular Employer bulletins were issued throughout 
the process, accompanied by regular contact and 
support from the Principal Employer Support and 
Education Officer.
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Operations
Our Operations team is based in Hobart and consists 
of the Administration Support Team, the Product Team 
and Marketing and Communications.

During the year the teams have been particularly 
involved with the transition to our new outsourced 
administrators, Link Group, including:
• The writing and delivery of business rules;
• Transition project activities with both Mercer (the 

outgoing administrator) and Link;
• Embedding business as usual including ongoing 

meetings and interactions with Link staff;
• Performing detailed reviews and checks on 

completed administration work.

This work was completed alongside normal business 
as usual service activities.

Administration Support Team
The Administration Support Team provides specialist 
administration assistance and support to various 
stakeholders including Link.  This includes managing 
and integrating the provision of in-house and 
outsourced member administrative services in line with 
agreed service standards.

The team provides high level support to Member 
Services and other stakeholders, such as employers, 
and works to deliver business outcomes and achieve 
operational plans in line with strategic directions.  Over 
the 2017-18 year, this team has provided strategic 
and technical advice on all aspects of Operations and 
member administration.  Regular reception support 
has also been provided to Member Services from the 
Administration team. 
 
Administration have been responsible for the following 
tasks over the past year:
• Exercise of trustee delegations, including Early 

Release claims, Ill Health, Family Law Death 
claims and Surviving Partner applications, the 
purchase and upgrade of service;

• Issue and breach management;
• Ill health application processing and pension 

administration;
• Liaison with Commission Medical Doctors;
• Complex member calculations and management 

of escalated member issues;
• Reviews of all member collateral;
• Agency administration support for technical and 

administrative issues and escalations;

• SFCSS and TASSS insurance claim reviews;
• management of Fund rates and factors (pension 

conversion, commutation, apportionment,  
CPA/SAF rates, CPI etc);

• implementing continual improvements to business 
processes, systems and information;

• maintaining an accurate product knowledge 
base within the OSC including Business rule 
documentation and Fund Rules, Trust Deeds and 
Fund Regulations;

• providing high level support in relation to the 
application of Business Rules to specific member 
queries, transactions and/or general processes;

• ensuring the completeness, documentation and 
accuracy of the administrative aspects of the 
Business Rules, including any related documents, 
policies and processes;

• supporting the documentation of policies, 
processes and procedures, the development of 
training material and supporting documents for 
Business Rules/superannuation administration 
training.
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Principal Product Analyst
The Principal Product Analyst has provided subject 
matter expertise, product advice and guidance which 
has been invaluable over the course of the transition to 
Link Group. 
 
Key work undertaken this year has been:
• developing policy and interpretation of Scheme 

legislation, Trust Deeds and other governing rules;
• actuarial annual/triennial reviews;
• Fund and member level taxation policy 

management;
• Development and review of scheme and product 

calculators and other tools;
• annual review of group insurance arrangements;
• management of external underwriters;
• Insurance framework monitoring & reporting on 

claims, underwriting and service levels;
• remaining aware of the strategic operating 

environment including new developments, 
legislative or regulatory changes, financial markets 
and industry trends to enable the effective 
management and continuous improvement of 
operations, policies and relevant legislation.

Marketing and Communications
Marketing and Communications works closely with both 
Administration, Product, Member Services and Link.  
Key projects related to the Link transition have been 
the development of various member communications, 
including the Important notice - change of administrator 
(including notification of a Limited Service period for 
both contributors and pensioners).

All member forms required re-development prior to 
transition as did all Fund factsheets and brochures.

All Fund administration letters underwent significant 
review.

Key projects have been the re-development of benefit 
quote summaries, exit statements and the coordination 
and provision of annual Member Benefit Statements.

A major change during 2017-18, was the integration of 
www.rbf.com.au into the Department of Treasury and 
Finance website.  This is now administered in-house, 
providing benefits in the ease and speed at which it can 
now be updated, alongside savings in our operating 
costs.

 
Key stakeholders for the Operations team include:
• Other Office of the Superannuation Commission staff
• Department of Treasury and Finance staff
• Link Group staff
• Contributors, account holders and pensioners
• Employers
• Insurers
• Commission Doctors
• Solicitors
• Various associations

http://www.rbf.com.au
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Compliance
The Commission manages the superannuation 
schemes in accordance with the:
• Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 2016;
• Public Sector Superannuation Reform Regulations 

2017;
• State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 

Trust Deed; 
• Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation 

Scheme Trust Deed; 
• Heads of Government agreement between the 

State and Commonwealth Government; and 
• other applicable laws of the State or the 

Commonwealth.
 
Details of the governing rules are available from the 
RBF website at www.rbf.com.au.  

The Commission is responsible for the governance 
of the schemes.  As Trustee, the Commission has 
a legal obligation to act in the best interests of the 
beneficiaries, who are the members of the schemes 

The Commission has the following roles:
• administration of the scheme and payment to the 

beneficiaries when required in accordance with the 
scheme rules;

• management and investment of the scheme assets; 
and

• compliance with the Heads of Government 
Agreement referred to above.

Under the Heads of Government Agreement 
(HOGA), the fund remains an exempt public sector 
superannuation scheme (EPSSS) and is not required 
to comply with superannuation industry legislation, but 
the HOGA sets out obligations on the State in relation 
to ensure that EPSSS’ conform with the principles of 
the Commonwealth Government’s retirement incomes 
policy as described in the HOGA to the best of their 
endeavours.

 
Members of the Commission
The Commission consists of up to three people 
appointed by the Treasurer.  The Treasurer also 
appoints a member of the Commission as the 
chairperson of the Commission.  Appointments are for 
a maximum period of 5 years and members may be 
reappointed. 
 
If a member of the Commission vacates their position, 
then the Treasurer may appoint a person to the vacancy 
for the remainder of the member’s term of office.
 

 

Governance and the 
Superannuation Commission

http://www.rbf.com.au
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Commission members as at 30 June 2018 
 
Kerry Adby LLM, FAICD, TFASFA

Chair of the Superannuation Commission
Commission tenure: Chair since 1 October 2016
 
Experience and expertise 
 
Current board positions include Macquarie Point Development Corporation and 
the NSW Rural Assistance Authority.  Board and professional experience covers 
audit, governance, risk management, investment in bond and equity markets and 
financing complex projects in Australia and internationally.

Kerry has been a senior investment banker and commercial lawyer and is currently 
Managing Director, Copernican Securities Pty Ltd, a specialist firm established 
1997 providing infrastructure finance, capital markets, pension and investment 
advisory services to the private and public sector. 

In addition to a Masters in Law (Australian National University), Kerry holds 
management qualifications from the University of Lausanne and IMD, Switzerland 
and is currently a PhD scholar at ANU. 

 
Leigh Mackey BA LLB

Commission tenure: Commissioner since 1 April 2017 

Experience and expertise 

Leigh is a partner of Ogilvie Jennings and has been practicing since 1992 when 
she was admitted to the Supreme Court of Tasmania and the High Court of 
Australia. Leigh specialises in injuries and compensation litigation. Leigh was a 
member of the RBF Board from 12 October 2015 to 31 March 2017. 

Leigh is chair of the Tasmanian Air Rescue Trust, a community member of the 
Tasmanian Board of the Australian Medical Board, Chair of the Parole Board, a 
member of the Tasmania Police Review Board, sits on the Legal Profession and 
Anti-Discrimination Tribunals and is a lecturer in workers compensation at the 
Legal Practice Course. 

 
Chris Bevan MAICD 

Commission tenure: Commissioner since 1 April 2017 

Experience and expertise 

Chris Bevan started in the public sector in 1972 as a junior staff member within 
the Public Works Department. Chris then transferred to Forestry Tasmania in 1981 
where he worked across the state in a range of positions (including Paymaster and 
Industrial Relations Advisor) until 2002 when he commenced his retirement. 
 
Chris has been Chairman of the Workskills Board since 2005 and is the current 
President of the Tasmanian Association of State Superannuants (TASS).
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Commissioner attendance 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Name
Number of Commission Meetings

Attended Held

Kerry Adby 13 13
Leigh Mackey 12 13
Chris Bevan 13 13

Two members of the Commission must be present to form a quorum at a duly convened meeting.  Decisions 
of the Commission must be supported by a majority of the members present and voting.  If there is an equality 
of votes, the person presiding has a casting vote.  Full and accurate minutes of proceedings are kept for all 
Commission meetings.

 
Commission remuneration for the 2017-18 financial year
The compensation model was determined by the Treasurer prior to the recruitment of the members of the 
Commission and there was no negotiation with Commissioners in respect of remuneration.
 
Please see Section 12 Related party disclosures of the Financial Statements for the remuneration table.

Indemnity insurance

The Superannuation Commission is covered under the Tasmanian Risk Management Fund as a related entity of 
the Department of Treasury and Finance.  

Financial management 

Operating costs

In accordance with the Tasmanian Public Sector Superannuation Reforms, the Commission is supported in its 
operations by the Department of Treasury and Finance.  Rather than the Commission drawing on the Retirement 
Benefits Fund directly to fund its operating costs, the day-to-day non-investment operation activities of the 
Commission are funded directly from the State Budget, through an appropriation to the Department of Treasury 
and Finance. With that appropriation, the Department provides all of the Commission’s staffing resources and 
funds all of the Commission’s operating costs. 

Unclaimed superannuation benefits

The Commission is required by Tasmanian legislation to transfer unclaimed superannuation benefits to Tasmanian 
State Treasury.  There was one amount of $13,018.65 transferred between 1 July 2017 and 30 June 2018.
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External review of complaints
The Commission provides members with a means by which to seek resolution of their complaints via an external 
dispute resolution scheme if a satisfactory resolution cannot be achieved through the internal complaints handling 
process.  The external body is the Ombudsman Tasmania, an independent officer appointed by the Governor of 
Tasmania. Complaints are to be lodged with the Ombudsman within certain time limits. 
 
There were 9 matters referred by Ombudsman Tasmania during the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018.  
Ombudsman Tasmania investigated the matter and where relevant, made recommendations for the consideration 
of the Superannuation Commission. 

Members could also ask the Superannuation Commission to make application to the Supreme Court for a 
determination regarding a decision of the Commission. The Commission was not asked to make any applications 
during the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018. 

 
Complaints received

Year
Number of 
Complaints

1 July 2017 – 30 June 2018 50

 
In addition to the number of formal complaints received, the OSC also received large amounts of feedback from 
members in regards to the transition to the new administrator.  A common theme was the inability of members to 
perform their own benefit projections and view their balances via the member secure website.  Each enquiry was 
responded to by a staff member from the OSC (unless the member specifically asked not to be contacted).

 
Enquiries and requests for information
Any enquiries received by the Enquiry Line that were determined to be a complaint were recorded and referred to 
the officer responsible for enquiries and complaints. 

Requests for prescribed information under the Corporations Act 2001 are normally required in writing. No requests 
were received during the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018. 

One application under the Right to Information Act 2009 was received during the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 
2018.  

Feedback and public interest disclosures

Procedure to lodge a complaint
Members who have a complaint are asked to submit it in writing 
to the Complaints Officer, by letter or by filling out a Complaint 
form. If this is not possible, assistance is available from the 
Office of the Superannuation Commission.  There is no charge 
to lodge a complaint. The principles of natural justice apply to 
the management of all complaints. 
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Fees can apply for family law applications and applications under the Right to Information Act 2009.

Privacy
Enquiries and complaints were treated as confidential and the personal information protection principles 
contained in the Personal Information Protection Act 2004 (TAS) were complied with. 

 
Public interest disclosures
The objectives of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2002 are to:
• encourage and facilitate disclosures of improper conduct by public officers and public bodies; 
• protect a person making a disclosure from reprisals; 
• protect other relevant persons from reprisals; 
• provide for the matters disclosed to be properly investigated and dealt with; and 
• provide all parties involved with natural justice.

During the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 there were:
• no disclosures made to the Commission, either Public Interest Disclosures or otherwise;
• no disclosed matters referred to the Commission by the Ombudsman;
• no disclosures referred by the Commission to the Ombudsman to investigate;
• no matters taken over by the Ombudsman from the Commission during the year;
• no disclosed matters that the Commission decided not to investigate during the year;
• no disclosed matters that were substantiated on investigation; and
• no recommendations made by the Ombudsman to the Commission in relation to the Public Interest 

Disclosures Act 2002.

More information about who can make a public interest disclosure, what types of things can be disclosed, the 
legal protection available and who a disclosure can be made to, are available on the RBF website.
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Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2018

Note
30 Jun 18 

$’000
30 Jun 17

$’000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 11 26,235 29,264

Receivables and other assets 6 45,478 3,457

Investments

Cash deposits 5 90,233 366,794

Australian equities 5 345,128 336,435

International equities 5 414,738 416,029

Infrastructure 5 279,592 270,040

Diversified fixed interest 5 458,860 227,655

Property 5 323,460 290,813

Alternative investments 5 146,293 145,125

Deferred tax asset 9 213 681

Total assets 2,130,230 2,086,293

Liabilities

Payables 7 (583) (10,831)

Provision for income tax (430) (29,405)

Deferred tax liabilities 9 (7,970) (5,778)

Provisions held by the Superannuation 
Commission 
TGIO provision

14
(4,163) (4,312)

TAS insurance and operational provision (2,045) (2,250)

Total liabilities excluding member benefits (15,191) (52,576)

Net assets available for member benefits 2,115,039 2,033,717

Member benefits

Defined benefit member liabilities 3 (7,269,024) (6,981,146)

Total member liabilities (7,269,024) (6,981,146)

Net assets (5,153,985) (4,947,429)

Equity

Defined benefits that are (over) or under funded 4 5,153,985 4,947,429

Total equity 5,153,985 4,947,429

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Income Statement for the year ended 30 June 2018

Superannuation activities Note
30-Jun-18 

$’000
30-Jun-17 

$’000

Interest 407 35,582

Dividends 4,878 46,089

Distributions from unit trusts 78,638 173,145

Property 2,651 2,543

Changes in assets measured at fair value 8 85,915 327,060

Other investment income 5,247 2,886

Other income 203 45,986

Total superannuation activities income 177,939 633,291

Investment expenses (1,722) (12,724)

Operation and administration expenses (39) (30,542)

Total expenses (1,761) (43,266)

Net result from superannuation 
activities

176,178 590,025

Profit from operating activities 176,178 590,025

Less: Net change in defined benefit 
member liabilities

(374,944) (559,579)

Less: Net benefits allocated to defined 
contribution member accounts

- (359,614)

Profit/(loss) before income tax (198,766) (329,168)

Income tax expense/(benefit) 9 7,790 2,647

Profit after income tax (206,556) (331,815)

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Member Benefits for the year ended 30 June 2018

Defined Benefit 
30-Jun-18

  $’000

Total 
30-Jun-18

  $’000

Opening balance of member benefits 6,981,146 6,981,146

Contributions:

Employer 318,219 318,219

Member 9,907 9,907

Transfer from other superannuation plans 6,862 6,862

Income tax on contributions (6,740) (6,740)

Net after tax contributions 328,248 328,248

Benefits to members/beneficiaries (415,368) (415,368)

Death and disability insurance benefits credited to 
members’ accounts

54 54

Benefits allocated to members' accounts, comprising:

Net investment income 172,462 172,462

Net change in DB member benefits 202,482 202,482

Closing balance of member benefits 7,269,024 7,269,024

*The reference to Defined Contribution refers to the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme, which was a part of the Retirement Benefits Fund 
during the period 1 July 2016 to 31 March 2017, and was transferred to Tasplan under the successor fund transfer.

Defined Contribution*
30-Jun-17

  $’000

Defined Benefit 
30-Jun-17 

 $’000

Total 
30-Jun-17

  $’000

Opening balance of member benefits 3,615,311 6,481,455 10,096,766

Contributions:

Employer 95,974 293,157 389,131

Member 79,468 53,995 133,463

Transfer from other superannuation plans 41,157 262 41,419

Income tax on contributions (24,749) (6,761) (31,510)

Net after tax contributions 191,850 340,653 532,503

Benefits to members/beneficiaries (232,188) (351,880) (584,068)

Transfers between defined benefit and defined 
contribution contribution members’ accounts

49,644 (49,644) -

Insurance premiums charged to members’ accounts (11,308) - (11,308)

Benefits allocated to members’ accounts, comprising:

Net investment income 371,030 227,671 598,701

Administration (fees)/income (11,416) 93 (11,323)

Net change in DB member benefits 331,815 331,815

Successor fund transfer (3,975,024) - (3,975,024)

Closing balance of member benefits - 6,981,146 6,981,146
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Statement of Changes in Reserves for the year ended 30 June 2018

Over or (under) 
funding of 

defined benefits
  $’000

Total equity
  $’000

Opening balance as at 1 July 2017 (4,947,429) (4,947,429)

Profit/(loss) (206,556) (206,556)

Closing balance at 30 June 2018 (5,153,985) (5,153,985)

Over or (under) 
funding of 

defined benefits
  $’000

Total equity
  $’000

Opening balance as at 1 July 2016 (4,615,614) (4,615,614)

Profit/(loss) (331,815) (331,815)

Closing balance at 30 June 2017 (4,947,429) (4,947,429)

The above Statement of Changes in Reserves should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2018

Note 30-Jun-18 
$’000

30-Jun-17 
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest received 407 35,582

Dividends 4,877 46,089

Distributions from unit trusts 34,972 174,041

Property 2,634 2,578

Other investment income 6,481 2,377

Insurance proceeds 54 3,084

Other income 203 46,219

Administration and operating expenses (10,307) (77,173)

Insurance premiums (205) (12,220)

Investment expenses (1,719) (12,620)

Income tax paid (34,220) (19,380)

Net cash inflows from operating activities 11 3,177 188,577

Cash flows from investing activities

Net redemption of investments 80,502 3,749,752

Net cash inflows from investing activities 80,502 3,749,752

Cash flows from financing activities

Employer contributions 318,632 388,377

Member contributions 9,907 133,463

Transfers from other superannuation plans received 6,861 41,419

Successor fund transfer - (3,975,024)

Benefits paid to members (415,368) (584,068)

Income tax paid on contributions received (6,740) (31,510)

Net cash outflows from financing activities (86,708) (4,027,343)

Net decrease in cash (3,029) (89,014)

Cash at the beginning of the financial period 29,264 118,278

Cash at the end of the financial period 11 26,235 29,264

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018

1. Operation of the Fund

The Retirement Benefits Fund (the ‘Fund’) is a defined benefit fund, domiciled in Australia that provides benefits to 
its members pursuant to the provisions of the:
• Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 2016;
• Public Sector Superannuation Reform Regulations 2017;
• State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed;
• Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed;
• Heads of Government agreement between the State and Australian Government; and
• other applicable laws of the State or the Commonwealth.

The Fund is managed by the Superannuation Commission (Commission) (the ‘Trustee’) (ABN 93 598 914 092) 
which is incorporated in Australia. The registered office of the Trustee is 21 Kirksway Place, Hobart, TAS 7000.

‘The Commission’ refers to the Superannuation Commission as Trustee of RBF when referenced throughout 
the financial statements. In addition to the assets held on behalf of the schemes for which it is Trustee, the 
Commission also holds assets on trust for other legacy arrangements pertaining to the prior RBF Board 
arising from the 2016-17 public sector superannuation reforms, and these are also disclosed in these financial 
statements. 

The Fund refers to the Retirement Benefits Fund (ABN: 51 737 334 954) as a whole when referenced throughout 
the financial statements and includes the following as defined benefit sub-funds:
• Contributory Scheme (closed 15 May 1999)
• Parliamentary Superannuation Fund (closed 11 November 1985)
• Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund (this being the successor fund for the closed PSF, and was closed on 1 

July 1999)
• State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (closed 30 June 2005)
• Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme (closed 30 June 2006).

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board, the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 and regulations and the provisions of the Trust Deed.

The Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 2016 established the Superannuation Commission with effect 
from 1 April 2017 and assigned the trustee responsibility for the Retirement Benefits Fund to the Superannuation 
Commission (and wound up the former trustee, the Retirement Benefits Board) from that date.

The Superannuation Commission is supported by the Office of the Superannuation Commission which is a branch 
of the Department of Treasury and Finance. Under the reform framework implemented by the Government, all of 
the operating costs associated with the administration of the Fund and the schemes (as opposed to direct and 
Indirect investment-related costs) are to be financed from an appropriation by the State Government, rather than 
being a call on the Fund (hence the material reduction in costs shown in the accounts for 2017-18 relative to 
2016-17).

In 2017, the former Retirement Benefits Board prepared financial statements for period ended 31 March 2017 
for the Retirement Benefits Fund, which included not only the five defined benefit schemes for which the 
Superannuation Commission is responsible now but also included member funds held in the Fund through the 
Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme, which was transferred to Tasplan under a successor fund transfer on 31 March 
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2017. The Statement of Financial Position of the Fund at 31 March 2017 also contained a range of assets and 
provisions for liabilities pertaining to the Board entity and organisation itself, which no longer form part of the 
accounts for the Fund.

The Commission prepared financial statements for Net Assets as at the 30 June 2017 and Changes in Net Assets 
for the quarter ending 30 June 2017. These statements included the wind-up of the RBF Board and the transfer 
of the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme to Tasplan under a Successor Fund Transfer (SFT) arrangements on 31 
March 2017, the movements in the net assets of the Fund associated with the wind-up of the Retirement Benefits 
Board and the transfer of both assets and liabilities associated with that entity, changes in the Fund arising from 
the SFT of the TAS to Tasplan, as well as transactions associated for the quarter for the ongoing operation of the 
five defined benefits schemes administered by the Superannuation Commission from the 1 April 2017.

For the purposes of these financial statements, the comparatives represent the Statement of Financial Position for 
the period 30 June 2017, as well the Income Statement for the 12 month period ending 30 June 2017 including all 
the transactions above.

The adoption of AASB 1056 has taken place with effect from 2017-18, and therefore the 2017 comparatives (for 
the total Fund) have been reinstated for these purposes.

The financial statements are presented in Australian Dollars. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at 
the foreign exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are translated to Australian dollars at the foreign exchange 
rate prevailing at that date. Foreign exchange gains or losses arising on translation are captured in the Income 
Statement in the period in which they arise.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Trustee, The Superannuation 
Commission on 27 September 2018.

(b) Adoption of AASB 1056

AASB 1056 Superannuation Entities (AASB 1056) is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
July 2016.

The adoption of AASB 1056 has resulted in:
• Changes to the presentation format of the financial statements;
• Changes to the measurement of assets and liabilities from ‘net market value’ to ‘fair value’, excluding member 

liabilities, tax assets and liabilities and insurance assets and liabilities;
• Additional disclosure requirements for assets and liabilities held at fair value as required by AASB 13 Fair 

Value Measurement;
• Member benefits recognised as liabilities rather than equity; and
• Contributions, rollovers and other inward transfers and benefits paid to members are not in the nature of 

income or expenses, and are presented in the Statement of Changes in Member Benefits.

The Trustee has applied the new accounting standard retrospectively from the start of the comparative period. 
The adoption of AASB 1056 had the following impact on the Statement of Financial Position for the year ended 30 
June 2017:

Description

As previously at 
30 June 2017 

$’000

Transition 
Adjustment 

$’000

Restated total as 
at 30 June 2017

$’000

Member benefits

Net assets available to pay benefits recognised as 
liabilities rather than equity:

Member liabilities - 6,981,146 6,981,146
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The adoption of AASB 1056 had the following impact on the Income Statement for the year ended 30 June 2017:

Description

As previously at 
30 June 2017 

$’000

Transition 
Adjustment 

$’000

Restated total as 
at 30 June 2017

$’000

Profit before income tax previously reported (3,413,278) (3,413,278)

Contributions, rollovers and other inward transfers and benefits paid to 
members are transferred to the Statement of Changes in Member Benefits:

Employer contributions and invoiced revenue (389,131) (389,131)

Members contributions (133,463) (133,463)

Transfers from other superannuation funds (41,419) (41,419)

Benefits paid and payable * 4,559,092 4,559,092

Insurance premiums 11,308 11,308

Death and disability benefits (3,084) (3,084)

Profit from operating activities (3,413,278) 4,003,303 590,025

Benefits allocated to members accounts (919,193) (919,193)

Profit/(loss) before income tax (3,413,278) 3,084,110 (329,168)

Income tax expense/(benefit) 34,157 34,157

Income tax on contributions transferred to the Statement of Changes in 
Member Benefits

(31,510) (31,510)

Sub-total 34,157 (31,510) 2,647

Profit after income tax (3,447,435) 3,115,620 (331,815)

*This includes both benefits paid under the defined benefit schemes as well as the transfer of member 
entitlements under the successor fund transfer of the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme to Tasplan in March 2017.

(c) New accounting standards and interpretations
The Trustee applied for the first time certain standards and amendments which are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2017. Apart from AASB 1056, the adoption of these standards and amendments has 
not had any significant financial impact on the financial statements. Following assumption of the Trustee role in 
respect of the Fund, on 1 April 2017, the Statement of Financial Position for the Fund for the 2016 - 2017 year was 
included in, and audited as part of, the financial statements for the Department of Treasury and Finance.

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

Certain Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations have recently been issued or amended but are 
not yet effective and have not been adopted by the Fund for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2018. 
The impact of these standards and interpretations has been assessed and to extent applicable to the Fund are 
outlined in the below table. Standards and interpretations that are not expected to have a material impact on the 
Fund have not been included.
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Accounting Standard and Nature
Application Date 

of Standard
Application 

Date for Fund

AASB 15 Revenue Recognition
AASB 15 replaces the existing revenue recognition standards AASB 111 Construction Contracts, 
AASB 118 Revenue and related Interpretations. AASB 15 incorporates the requirements of IFRS 
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) and developed jointly with the
US Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).

01-Jan-18 30-Jun-19

AASB 15 specifies the accounting treatment for revenue arising from contracts with customers 
(except for contracts within the scope of other accounting standards such as leases or financial 
instruments).The core principle of AASB 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity 
recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:
(a) Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
(b) Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
(c) Step 3: Determine the transaction price
(d) Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
(e) Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Impact on financial report
The Trustee and the Fund are assessing all revenue streams to ensure that revenue is 
recognised in accordance with the requirements of AASB 15.
AASB 15 provides two methods for applying the standard upon transition:
1. Retrospective under AASB 108
2. Retrospective with cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised at 
date of initial application in accordance with requirements as set out in paragraphs C7-C8 of the 
standard.
This is expected to have a minimal impact on the financial statements of the Fund.

AASB 9/IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
AASB 9 brings together the classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting 
phases of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement and is expected to be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018. Also, the IASB has addressed the key concern that arose as a result of the financial crisis 
that the incurred loss model in IAS 39 contributed to the delayed recognition of credit losses, by 
issuing the new impairment requirements that are based on a more forward-looking expected 
credit loss model.

01-Jan-18 30-Jun-19

Impact on financial report
The Fund expects that this standard will have minimal impact on the financial statements of the 
Fund and the Trustee.

(d) Financial assets and liabilities
(a) Classification

The Trustee classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities into the categories below in accordance with 
AASB 139.

Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition
These financial assets are designated on the basis that they are part of a group of financial assets which are 
managed and have their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with risk management 
and investment strategies of the Trustee.

Receivables
Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. The Trustee includes in this category short term receivables.
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Other financial liabilities
This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those classified at fair value through profit or loss. 
Other financial liabilities are measured at their nominal amounts. Amounts are generally settled within 30 days 
of being recognised as other financial liabilities. Given the short-term nature of other financial liabilities, the 
nominal amount approximates fair value.

(b) Recognition
The Trustee recognises a financial asset or financial liability when, and only when, it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally 
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 
that the Trustee commits to purchase or sell the asset.

(c) Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised where:
i. The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
ii. The Trustee has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; 
and
iii. Either (a) the Trustee has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Trustee 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.
The Trustee derecognises a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 
expires.

(d) Initial measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the Statement of 
Financial Position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments are recognised directly in Income 
Statement.
For financial assets and liabilities where the fair value at initial recognition does not equal the transaction price, 
the Trustee recognises the difference in the Income Statement, unless specified otherwise.

(e) Subsequent measurement
After initial measurement, the Trustee measures investments and derivatives at fair value through profit or loss. 
Subsequent changes in the fair value of those investments are recorded as ‘changes in assets measured at 
fair value’ through the income statement. Interest earned is recorded in ‘interest revenue’ according to the 
terms of the contract. Dividend revenue is recorded in ‘dividend revenue’.

(e) Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Trustee.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. The Trustee 
uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measure or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy. Refer to Note 5.

(f) Investment properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions, 
at the reporting date. Fair value is determined based on annual evaluation performed by an accredited external 
independent valuer, applying a valuation model recommended by the International Valuation Standards 
Committee. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are recognised in the 
Income Statement in the period which they arise.

Investment properties are derecognised when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently 
withdrawn from use and no further economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in the Income Statement in the period 
of derecognition.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand and 
short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term 
deposits as defined above.

(h) Receivables and payables
Receivables are carried at nominal amounts due which approximate fair value. Receivables are normally settled 
within 30 days. An allowance for uncollectible amounts is only made where there is objective evidence that the 
debt will not be collected. Objective evidence may include indications that the debtor or a group of debtors 
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measureable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Payables are carried at nominal amounts which are approximate fair value. They represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Trustee prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid when the Trustee becomes 
obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods or services. Payables are normally 
settled on 30 day terms.

(i) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Trustee and the 
revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is received. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and 
excluding taxes or duty. The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is 
recognised:

Changes in fair value
Changes in the fair value of investments are calculated as the difference between the fair value at sale, or 
at balance date, and the fair value at the previous valuation point. All changes are recognised in the Income 
Statement.

Interest
Interest revenue on cash and other financial assets carried at fair value is recorded according to the terms of 
the contract and is recognised in the Income Statement.
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Dividends and distributions
Dividend and distribution revenue is recognised when the Trustee’s right to receive payment is established. 
Revenue is presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes, which are disclosed separately as tax 
expense in the Income Statement.

Rental income
Rental income from investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Contingent rental income is recognised as income in the periods in which it is earned. Lease incentives granted 
are recognised as an integral part of total rental income, over the term of the lease.

(j) Income tax
The Fund is a complying superannuation fund for the purposes of the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act 1997. Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied to the Fund’s taxable income.

Income tax in the Income Statement for the year comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance date.

Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:
• Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 

not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss.

• When the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests 
in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets 
and unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:
• Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition 

of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor the taxable profit or loss.

• In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or 
interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance date.
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority.

(k) Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except:
• When the GST incurred on a sale or purchase of assets or services is not payable to or recoverable from the 

taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the revenue or the expense item or as part of 
the cost of acquisition of the asset, as applicable; or

• When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amounts of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the Statement of Financial Position. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority are classified as 
operating cash flows.

(l) Superannuation contribution surcharge
The Superannuation Laws Amendment (Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes both the superannuation 
contributions surcharge and the termination payments surcharge in respect of superannuation contributions and 
certain termination payments made or received on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect 
of contributions and payments for the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and 
remain payable.

Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions for a relevant year on the basis 
of the individual member’s adjusted taxable income for that year.  The liability for the Superannuation Contribution 
Surcharge is recognised when the assessment is received, as the Trustee considers this is when it can be reliably 
measured.

The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by the Fund has been charged to the relevant members’ 
accounts.

(m) Foreign currency
The functional and presentation currency of the Fund is Australian Dollars, which is the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which it operates. The Fund’s performance is evaluated and its liquidity managed in 
Australian Dollars. Therefore, the Australian Dollar is considered as the currency that most faithfully represents the 
economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.

(n) Member liabilities
Member liabilities are measured at the amount of accrued benefits.

Defined benefit member liabilities are measured as the amount of investments that would be needed as at the 
reporting date to yield future net cash inflows that would be sufficient to meet accrued benefits as at that date 
when they are expected to fall due.

Defined contribution member liabilities are measured as the amount of member account balances as at the 
reporting date.

(o) Significant accounting judgements and estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Fund’s financial statements requires judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates 
could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected 
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in the future.

The significant accounting policies have been consistently applied in the current financial year and the 
comparative period, unless otherwise stated. Where necessary, comparative information has been re-presented to 
be consistent with current period disclosures.

3. Defined benefit member liabilities

The liability for accrued benefits for members in the Fund is the Trustee’s present obligation to pay benefits 
to members and beneficiaries. This amount is calculated on the basis of the present value of expected future 
payments which arise from membership of the Fund up to the measurement date and is determined by reference 
to expected future salary levels by the application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant 
actuarial assumptions.

The full valuation of these benefits was last undertaken by the Fund Actuary (Esther Conway F.I.A.A.) as part of a 
comprehensive actuarial review.

• Contributory Scheme (a Scheme in the Retirement Benefits Fund). Report to the Minister and RBF Board on 
the Actuarial Investigation as at 30 June 2016 (dated 19 January 2017);

• Parliamentary Superannuation Fund (a Scheme in the Retirement Benefits Fund). Report to the Minister and 
RBF Board on the Actuarial Investigation as at 30 June 2016 (dated 7 February 2017);

• Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund (a Scheme in the Retirement Benefits Fund). Report to the Minister and 
RBF Board on the Actuarial Investigation as at 30 June 2016 (dated 7 February 2017);

• State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (a Scheme in the Retirement Benefits Fund). Report to the 
Trustee on the Actuarial Investigation as at 1 May 2015 (dated 29 January 2016);

• Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme (a Scheme in the Retirement Benefits Fund). Report 
to the Trustee on the Actuarial Investigation as at 30 June 2015 (dated 25 February 2016).

The key assumptions used to determine the values of accrued benefits for the Fund were:

Assumption (per annum) as at 30 June 2018 30 June 2017

Investment returns

Contributory Scheme 6.5% 6.5%

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 7.0% 7.0%

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 6.0% 6.0%

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 6.0% 6.0%

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 6.0% 6.0%

Salary increases*

Contributory Scheme 2.0% for the first 
three years, 4.0% 

thereafter

2.0% for the first 
three years, 4.0% 

thereafter

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 2.0% for the first 
three years, 4.0% 

thereafter

2.0% for the first 
four years, 4.0% 

thereafter

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 3.0% for the 
first year, 4.0% 

thereafter

3.0% for the first 
two years, 4.0% 

thereafter

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 4.00% 5.0% for the 
first year, 4.0% 

thereafter

Indexation of preserved accounts 4.0% 4.0%
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Assumption (per annum) as at 30 June 2018 30 June 2017

CPI increases 2.0% for the first 
three years, 2.5% 

thereafter

2.0% for the first 
four years, 2.5% 

thereafter

*Salary increase assumptions are not relevant for vested benefit calculations

The assumed investment return has been determined by reference to the investments held by each Scheme in respect of the defined 
benefit liabilities. No allowance for contribution tax has been made in the calculation of the liabilities.

The Trustee uses sensitivity analysis to monitor the potential impact of key changes to key variables about which the assumptions need to 
be made. The following are sensitivity of accrued benefits to the investment return, CPI increase and pension mortality assumptions.

Key assumption Assumed at reporting date Reasonable possible 
change

Range of (increase) 
decrease in member 

benefit liabilities

Investment return 6.5% pa (Contributory Scheme); 
6.0% pa (TASSS, SFCSS and PRBF); 
7.0% pa (PSF)

+1.0% pa 
 

-1.0% pa

(679,916) 
 

820,930

CPI increases 2.5% pa +1.0% pa 
-1.0% pa

636,095
(537,146)

Pensioner mortality Aged-based rates developed by the 
scheme actuary.

5% higher rates*
5% lower rates*

(49,393)
51,865

*For example, if the base probability of death is 3.0%, the higher rate is 3.15% and the lower rate is 2.85%.

The liability for accrued benefits has been recalculated by changing the assumptions as outlined above, whilst leaving all other valuation 
assumptions unchanged. The other variables about which assumptions have been made in measuring defined benefit member liabilities, 
and for which reasonably possible changes would not be expected to have a material effect, include salary increase rates, retirement and 
resignation rates, and rates of indexation of preserved accounts.

4. Defined benefit plans that are under/(over) funded

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Contributory Scheme 5,161,058 4,952,300

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 10,596 10,651

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund (1,001) (1,599)

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (5,182) (3,648)

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme (11,486) (10,275)

Total defined benefits that are (over) or under funded 5,153,985 4,947,429
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5. Fair value of financial instruments

(a) Classification of financial instruments under the fair value hierarchy
AASB 13 requires disclosures relating to fair value measurements using a three-level fair value hierarchy. The level 
within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input requires 
judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability. The following tables show financial instruments 
recognised at fair value, categorised between those whose fair value is based on:
• Level 1 : Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2 : Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is directly or indirectly observable
• Level 3 : Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

is unobservable

The level in which instruments are classified in the hierarchy is based on the lowest level input that is significant 
to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Assessment of the significance of an input requires judgement after 
considering factors specific to the instrument.

30 June 2018

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

TOTAL
$’000

Cash deposits 30,844 59,389 - 90,233

Australian equities 345,128 - - 345,128

International equities 318,592 96,146 - 414,738

Infrastructure 85,509 194,083 - 279,592

Diversified fixed interest - 458,860 - 458,860

Property - 323,460 - 323,460

Alternative investments - 146,293 - 146,293

Total investments 780,073 1,278,231 - 2,058,304

30 June 2017

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

TOTAL
$’000

Cash deposits 313,528 53,266 - 366,794

Australian equities 336,435 - - 336,435

International equities 292,463 123,566 - 416,029

Infrastructure 88,112 181,929 - 270,041

Diversified fixed interest - 227,655 - 227,655

Property - 290,813 - 290,813

Alternative investments - 145,124 - 145,124

Total investments 1,030,538 1,022,353 - 2,052,891
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Valuation technique

Diversified fixed interest
The Fund invests in debt securities, corporate and government bonds. In the absence of a quoted price in an 
active market, they are valued using observable inputs such as recently executed transaction prices in securities 
of the issuer or comparable issuers and yield curves. Adjustments are made to the valuations when necessary to 
recognise differences in the instrument’s terms. To the extent that the significant inputs are observable, the Fund 
categorises these investments as Level 2.

Listed equities
When fair values of publicly traded equity securities are based on quoted market prices, or binding dealer price 
quotations, in an active market for identical assets without any adjustments, the instruments are included within 
Level 1 of the hierarchy. The Fund values these investments at bid price for long positions and ask price for short 
positions.

Property
Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
properties are measured at fair value. The directly owned property is valued at its fair value as determined by an 
independent valuer as at 13 July 2018. One part of one floor of the building was subject to a longer-term vacancy 
and to attract tenants in the current market place, a lease incentive for tenants was offered. The incentive is 5 per 
cent of the value of the lease for the additional area taken on, representing 2.1 per cent of the value of remainder 
of the total lease entered into by the tenant, DXC United Pty Limited. The incentive was implemented by way of the 
tenant receiving a three months rent free, valued of $62,515, in the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

Unlisted unit trusts
The Fund invests in these trusts which are not quoted in an active market and which may be subject to restrictions 
on redemptions. The Fund considers the valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing these funds as part of 
its due diligence prior to investing, to ensure they are reasonable and appropriate and therefore the NAV of these 
funds may be used as an input into measuring their fair value.

The Fund classifies these funds as either Level 2 or Level 3. These funds are valued at redemption price.

(b) Level 3 reconciliation

No financial instruments have been classified as level 3 therefore a reconciliation from beginning balances to 
ending balances is not required.

(c) Transfers Between Hierarchy Levels
There have been no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, nor between Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy during the financial year.
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6. Receivables and other assets

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Recoverable within 12 months

Contributions and pensions receivable 1,631 2,042

Investment income receivable 43,847 1,235

RBF Financial Planning Pty Ltd - 180

45,478 3,457

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. Information regarding credit risk exposure is 
set out in Note 13.

7. Payables

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Due within 12 months

GST payable 17 14

Rental income accrued 18 35

Sundry Creditors 53 1,282

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable 495 610

Tasplan Provision* - 8,890

583 10,831

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

Information regarding interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk exposure is set out in Note 13.

*Under the former RBF arrangements, the Fund was managed as a single pool, and under the Board’s unit 
pricing model, the value and performance of the overall Fund was allocated to the individual schemes. As a key 
part of the SFT, the underlying investments held by the Board had to be allocated between the defined benefit 
scheme (which remained with the Commission) and the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme which was transferred 
to Tasplan. One of the assets that was held by the Board prior to the SFT was an Australian equity mandate with 
Balanced Equity Management (Australian Equities) Investment. Subsequent to the SFT, it was discovered that 
the BEM holding was undervalued as at 31 March 2017 by $12.5 million due to a custodian error. The error was 
subsequently corrected by the custodian and the valuation reflected fully in the Assets held by the Commission. 
This has resulted in the RBF Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS) members’ assets being undervalued by the 
portion belonging to TAS. These members are now members of Tasplan. The Commission recognised a payable 
as at 30 June 2017 to Tasplan for their portion in the split of the subsequent asset at approximately 71 per cent.
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8. Changes in fair value of investments

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Investments Held at End of Period

Cash deposits (291) (2,290)

Australian equities 15,542 105,549

International equities 39,223 37,353

Infrastructure 6,178 -

Diversified fixed interest 2,870 (24,080)

Property 20,013 4,517

Alternative investments 1,044 55,547

84,579 176,596

Investments Sold During the Period

Cash deposits 262 74

Australian equities (604) 28,717

International equities 1,474 58,984

Diversified fixed interest - 4,931

Property 204 14,074

Alternative investments - 43,684

1,336 150,464

Total Changes in Net Market Values 85,915 327,060

9. Income tax

(a) Major components of income tax expenses are:

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Income Statement

Current tax expense

Current tax charge (387) 38,428

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous 
years

5,517 -

Deferred tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 2,660 (35,781)

Total tax expense as reported in the Income Statement 7,790 2,647
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(b) Reconciliation between income tax expenses and the accounting profit before income tax

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Profit/(loss) from operating activities 176,178 590,025

Income tax at 15% 26,427 88,504

Reversal of accounting movement in fair value (12,887) (49,059)

Assessable realised capital gains 18,145 72,031

Movement in unrealised gains 2,192 (39,162)

Exempt pension income (20,453) (63,378)

Expenses related to exempt pension income 284 9,446

Net imputation and foreign tax credits (6,687) (14,811)

Under/(over) provision in the previous year 5,517 -

Other adjustments (4,748) (924)

7,790 2,647

(c) Deferred Tax

2017
Opening
Balance

$’000

(Charged) / Credited
to income

$’000

2018
Closing
Balance

$’000

Deferred tax assets

Unrealised taxable losses - 10 10

Depreciation timing adjustments 260 (225) 35

Capitalised expense timing adjustments 421 (253) 168

681 (468) 213

Deferred tax liabilities

Unrealised taxable gains (5,778) (2,192) (7,970)

(5,778) (2,192) (7,970)

Net deferred tax (liability) / asset (5,097) (2,660) (7,757)

2016
Opening
Balance

$’000

(Charged) / Credited
to income

$’000

2017
Closing
Balance

$’000

Deferred tax assets

Fund expenses accrued but not incurred 3,798 (3,798) -

Depreciation timing adjustments 264 (4) 260

Capitalised expense timing adjustments - 421 421

4,062 (3,381) 681

Deferred tax liabilities

Unrealised taxable gains (44,940) 39,162 (5,778)

(44,940) 39,162 (5,778)

Net deferred tax (liability) / asset (40,878) 35,781 (5,097)
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10. Auditors’ remuneration

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Amounts received or due and receivable by the Tasmanian 
Audit Office as auditors of the Fund (paid by Treasury)

80,200 59,750

RSM Australia have been contracted by the Tasmanian Audit Office to provide audit services. Fees for these 
services have been included above.

11. Cash flow statement reconciliation

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in 
the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Cash and cash equivalent 26,235 29,264

Reconciliation of net cash from operating activities to 
net profit after income tax

Profit / (loss) after income tax (206,556) (331,815)

Adjustments for:

(Increase) / decrease in assets measured in fair value (85,915) (327,061)

(Increase) / decrease in insurance 54 (8,224)

(Increase) / decrease in receivables (42,433) 621

Increase / (decrease) in payables (10,488) (47,404)

Increase / (decrease) in income tax payable (26,430) (16,733)

Allocation to members’ accounts 374,944 919,193

Net cash outflows from operating activities 3,177 188,577
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12. Related party disclosures

(a) Trustee and members of the Commission

The Superannuation Commission (ABN 93 598 914 092) acted as the Trustee of the Fund for the year ended 30 
June 2018.

The following were Commission members during the financial year and up to the date of this report:
• Kerry Adby (Chair)
• Leigh Mackey
• Chris Bevan

(b) Commission remuneration

The compensation model was determined by the Treasurer prior to the recruitment of the members of the 
Commission and there was no negotiation with Commissioners in respect of remuneration. The remuneration 
were paid by Treasury.

Name/Title Financial year Commission fees Superannuation Other benefits1

Kerry Adby
Chairperson of the Commission

2017-18
2016-17

81,321
60,277

7,725
5,726

Nil

Leigh Mackey2 

Commissioner
2017-18
2016-17

42,160
10,200

3,553
969

Nil

Chris Bevan 
Commissioner

2017-18
2016-17

40,660
9,942

3,863
944

Nil

1 Other benefits includes the following:
• post-employment benefits;
• long-term employee benefits;
• termination benefits;
• payments as consideration for agreeing to hold the position;
• share-based payments (including equity-settled share-based transactions, cash-settled share-based transactions and all other forms 

of share-based payment compensation (including hybrids))
• cash bonus, performance- related bonus or share- based payment compensation benefit;
• options and rights over an equity instrument provided as compensation.
2 All payments due to Leigh Mackey were paid to Ogilvie Jennings Lawyers, being her principal employer.

(c) Related Party Transactions

There were no transactions between the Superannuation Commission and the Retirement Benefits Fund during 
the year (2017: nil).
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13. Financial risk management

The Fund’s assets principally consist of financial instruments which comprise Australian equities, international 
equities, diversified fixed interest, property, infrastructure, absolute returns, alternative debt and cash.

The Trustee has engaged Russell Investment Management Limited (Russell Investments), its implemented 
consultant, to advise on its Investment Strategy and implement the allocation of assets between the various types 
of investments described above. This includes the allocation of investments to fund managers, evaluating their 
performance and providing recommendations. Russell Investments, along with fund managers, provides regular 
quarterly reports in relation to performance.

During the reporting period, some of the investments held by the Fund have continued to be held directly by 
the Trustee under custody arrangements, while others have been replaced by holdings of Russell Investments 
products.

The Trustee’s investment activities and use of financial investments expose it to market, currency, interest rate, 
credit and liquidity risk. The Fund’s exposure to and its objectives, policies and processes for measuring and 
managing each of these risks is set out below.

The Fund’s investments are managed:
• Internally, through the Department of Treasury and Finance – property 21 Kirksway Place, Hobart Tasmania
• externally – all other investments as at 30 June 2018.

External investments may be either an investment through a pooled trust, or an investment mandate with a fund 
manager with assets held by either the Trustee’s custodian or Russell Investments custodian. All fund managers 
are required to invest in accordance with an agreed investment mandate containing guidelines that outline how 
the investment is to be managed (including how to manage exposures and risks), measured and reported.

The Trustee also receives monthly reports from Russell Investments with respect to the performance of fund 
managers, the investments and the performance of the Fund as a whole.

(a) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market risk includes: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The objective 
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, whilst 
optimising the return on risk.

To manage market risk, Russell Investments ensures that due diligence of fund managers underlying the Russell 
Investments Funds is completed prior to their appointment, conducts investment performance and benchmarking 
and continually monitors market conditions. Russell Investments advises in respect of the overall market risk of 
the Fund’s assets.

(i) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Trustee does not directly hold any foreign cash reserves 
or foreign investments. However, there is an indirect currency risk, in that it has significant investments in other 
trusts which in turn may have their own exposure to the currency markets. The indirect risk affects the price of 
the Trustee’s holding in the investments. The sensitivity to such price is disclosed within “other market price 
risk”.

(ii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest 
rates. Financial assets and liabilities which are interest-bearing expose the Trustee to risks associated with the 
effect of fluctuations in the prevailing level of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. The 
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Fund’s direct exposure to interest rate risk arises from its bank accounts which are referred to in the Statement 
of Net Assets. Interest is earned on the Fund’s cash balances at a variable deposit rate. The Fund also has 
indirect exposure to interest rate risk arising from cash investments held by the underlying manager.

The table below summarises the Trustee’s exposure to interest rate risks at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017.

30 June 2018

Weighted 
average 
interest

Floating 
interest rate 

$’000

Fixed interest rate

Non-interest 
bearing 

$’000
Total 

$’000

3 months or 
less 

$’000

3 to 12 
months 

$’000
1 to 5 years 

$’000

Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

0.10% 26,235 - - - - 26,235

Receivables - - - - 45,478 45,478

Investments - - - - 2,058,304 2,058,304

Tax and other assets - - - - 213 213

Total Assets 26,235 2,103,995 2,130,230

Liabilities

Trade and other 
payables

- - - - 583 583

Tax liabilities - - - - 8,400 8,400

Provisions - - - - 6,208 6,208

Total Liabilities - - - - 15,191 15,191

Net Assets Available 
to Pay Benefits 26,235 2,088,804 2,115,039

30 June 2017

Weighted 
average 
interest

Floating 
interest rate 

$’000

Fixed interest rate

Non-interest 
bearing 

$’000
Total 

$’000

3 months or 
less 

$’000

3 to 12 
months 

$’000
1 to 5 years 

$’000

Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents

0.10% 29,264 - - - - 29,264

Receivables - - - - 3,457 3,457

Investments - - - - 2,052,891 2,052,891

Tax and other assets - - - - 681 681

Total Assets 29,264 2,103,995 2,130,230

Liabilities

Trade and other 
payables

- - - - 10,831 10,831

Tax liabilities - - - - 35,183 35,183

Provisions - - - - 6,562 6,562

Total Liabilities - - - - 52,576 52,576

Net Assets Available 
to Pay Benefits 29,264 2,004,453 2,033,717
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Trustee’s Statement of Financial Position and Income 
Statement to a reasonably possible change in the official cash interest rates.

Carrying 
amount

Changes for the year in net 
assets available 
to pay benefits

Net assets available to pay 
benefits after change

$’000 -100 bps +100 bps -100 bps +100 bps

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

30-Jun-18 ($’000) 26,235 (262) 262 25,973 26,497

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

30-Jun-17 ($’000) 29,264 (293) 293 28,971 29,557

In accordance with the Trustee’s policy, the fund administrator monitors the cash position on a regular basis 
and considers whether current cash and liquid assets are sufficient to cover projected benefit payments for the 
month. The Superannuation Commission generally reviews payments on a monthly basis.

(iii) Other market price risk
Other market price risk is the risk that the market view of the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or 
factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

All of the financial instruments are carried at net market value with changes recognised. Accordingly, all 
changes in market conditions affecting net market value will be recognised. Investments of the Trustee (other 
than cash held for liquidity purposes) comprise listed equities, unlisted equities, bonds, corporate debt, foreign 
exchange contracts, options and futures, direct properties and other investments. The exposure to other market 
price risk is therefore limited to the market price movement of these investments. The Trustee has determined 
that these investments are appropriate and are in accordance with the Investment Strategy in respect of asset 
class allocation. The exposure at year-end to other market price risk is detailed below.

In accordance with agreed investment mandates, some of external investment managers and Russell 
Investments Funds have invested in a variety of financial instruments, including derivatives, which could expose 
the Trustee investments to a variety of other market price risks. Other market price risk arising on investments is 
mitigated by the due diligence and research undertaken by the investment manager or the underlying managers 
of the Russell Investments Funds prior to purchasing or selling equities on behalf of the Trustee.

Other market price risk is mitigated by constructing a diversified portfolio of instruments which are traded on 
various markets. All investment managers are subject to due diligence prior to being appointed. Managers 
underlying the Russell Investments Funds are subject to the due diligence of Russell Investments.

Russell Investments monitors the investments in the Russell Investments Funds on a weekly basis and receives 
monthly reports from all investment managers which detail performance against relevant benchmarks and 
objectives. Russell Investments reports investment performance on a monthly basis. Each quarter, Russell 
Investments provides a consolidated report on the performance of all investment managers and the Russell 
Investments Funds against relative benchmarks and objectives including advice regarding the management of 
investment portfolio in accordance with the current investment strategy.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS FUND
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
TRUSTEE DECLARATION

In the opinion of the Trustee of the Retirement Benefits Fund:

(a) The accompanying financial statements are drawn up so as to present fairly the financial position of the Fund 
as at 30 June 2018 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended; and in accordance 
with Accounting Standards, other mandatory professional requirements in Australia;

(b) The Fund has been conducted in accordance with the provisions of the:
(i) Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 2016;
(ii) Public Sector Superannuation Reform Regulations 2017;
(iii) Public Sector Superannuation Reform (Parliamentary Superannuation) Regulations 2016;
(iv) State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed;
(v) Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed; and

(c) at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in 
the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Commission.
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Appendix A: Key partners

Administration services

Mercer Outsourcing (Australia) Pty Ltd (1 July 
2017 to 19 February 2018)

Mercer continued to be a strategic partner in the 
provision of outsourced superannuation administration 
services. Mercer was appointed by the former RBF 
Board in mid-2011 initially for a five year term and 
this has been extended in line with the Schemes’ 
requirements to early 2018. Mercer provided 
administration services to members and employer 
agencies including benefit, contribution and pension 
administration as well as member and employer 
communication through the Enquiry Line, the website 
and publications. 
 
Australian Administration Services Pty Ltd (Link) 
(20 February 2018 to 30 June 2018) 

Responsibility for performing administration services 
for the defined benefits superannuation schemes for 
which the Superannuation Commission is Trustee 
commenced to be provided by Link with effect from 
20 February 2018.  Link have also been engaged to 
perform Fund Accounting and associated financial 
services on behalf of the Commission. 

Taxation services

KPMG

KPMG is an Australian partnership and a member firm 
of the KPMG network of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Co-operative.  KPMG 
was the registered tax agent for the Superannuation 
Commission and provided advice and expertise in a 
variety of tax related areas. KPMG was a key point of 
contact for maintaining industry and market taxation 
knowledge and provided expertise in liaising with the 
Australian Taxation Office. 

Actuary

Mercer Consulting (Australia) Pty Ltd

The actuary for the Superannuation Commission is 
Dr David Knox, a Senior Partner at Mercer and Senior 
Actuary for Australia. 

Custodian

JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (Sydney branch) 

JP Morgan provided custody services to the 

Commission as well as ancillary services such as 
accounting, unit pricing and investment manager 
compliance. 

Internal audit

KPMG

KPMG were engaged by the Superannuation 
Commission to provide project Quality Assurance 
services in relation to the Mercer to Link transition 
project.  

Deloitte

In May 2017, the Superannuation Commission 
approved that it use the internal auditor of the 
Department of Treasury and Finance to undertake 
Commission specific internal audit projects.  Deloitte, 
as Internal Auditor to the Department of Treasury and 
Finance, were appointed as Internal Auditor for the 
Commission. 

Investment Management

Russell Investment Management Ltd

The Superannuation Commission has an implemented 
consultant model with respect to the management of 
its investments and has appointed Russell Investment 
Management Ltd (Russell Investments) to perform 
this role.  The Russell Investment group is a global 
business directly managing more than $328 billion 
in assets and advising on more than $US2 trillion. 
Russell Investments Australia was an early provider 
of implemented consultancy services in 1997, and 
currently works with around 20 superannuation funds in 
Australia, around half of which operate defined benefit 
schemes.  As at 30 June 2018, the majority of assets 
were invested in Russell Investments’ products. 

Investment managers

As at 30 June 2018, the Superannuation Commission 
held a small number of investments separately to 
the implemented consultant model with Russell 
Investments.  These investments were instead held 
with the following investment funds, via the custody 
arrangement with JP Morgan.  As noted on page 6 of 
this report, these investments were held with:
• Lend Lease Australian Prime Property Fund 

Commercial;
• Lend Lease Australian Prime Property Fund Retail;
• AMP Diversified Property Fund; and
• Utilities Trust of Australia.
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Appendix B: Interim, Death and Total & Permanent Disablement 
Benefits paid 

Contributory Scheme

Claims paid
2017-18 2016-17

Number Amount Number Amount

Interim invalidity 27 $909,940.57 64 $1,490,008.19
Death 5 $2,040,405.88 4 $533,702.00
Total and Permanent 
Disablement

11 $702,229.54 16 $1,619,399.00

   
The above figures do not include Compulsory Preservation Accounts.

No Income Protection claims were paid under the Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme during 
the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018.
 
1 Total and Permanent Disablement claim valued at $458,451.02 was paid under the State Fire Commission 
Superannuation Scheme during the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018.
 
No claims were paid under the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Scheme during the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 
2018.
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Appendix C: Scheme details and member statistics 

Contributory Scheme 
For permanent employees and certain temporary or contract employees who started employment in the 
Tasmanian public sector before 15 May 1999. The Contributory Scheme was closed to new members from
15 May 1999.

The Contributory Scheme has a related Contributory Scheme CPA which records unfunded benefits and the RBF 
Investment 12 account which records preserved redundancy entitlements within the Scheme. The Contributory 
Scheme Life Pension also is provided under the Contributory Scheme regulations. 

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 
For full-time permanent uniformed employees who started employment in the Tasmania Fire Service before 
July 2005. The State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme was incorporated into RBF as a sub-fund from
1 May 2006.

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 
For permanent employees who started employment with the Tasmanian Ambulance Service before 30 June 2006. 
The Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme was incorporated into RBF as a sub-fund from
30 June 2006.

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 
For Members of Parliament first elected to Parliament before 15 November 1985. The Parliamentary 
Superannuation Fund was incorporated into RBF as a sub-fund from 1 January 2003.

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 
For Members of Parliament first elected to Parliament after 14 November 1985 and before 1 July 1999. The 
Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund was incorporated into RBF as a sub-fund from 1 January 2003

Member statistics 1 July 2017
As at 30 

June 2018

Contributory Scheme 5353 5053

Contributory Scheme CPA 11806 11614

State Fire Commission 
Superannuation Scheme

87 85

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme

123 116

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits 
Fund

2 2

RBF Life Pensions and Contributory 
Scheme Life Pensions

9470 9556



Superannuation Commission Annual Report 2017-18 - Page 54

Appendix D: Changes in Scheme position 2017-18

CON Scheme 
$’000

PSF Scheme 
$’000

PRBF 
Scheme 

$’000
SFCSS 

$’000
TASSS 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Opening balance 1,939,713 4,293 4,144 30,444 55,124 2,033,718

Income

Contribution Revenue 
(including employer invoicing)

330,215 912 (17) 1,238 2,639 334,987

Insurance rebates 20 20

Insurance proceeds 54 54

Other revenue 184 184

Earnings 164,296 326 322 2,576 4,941 172,461

Unallocated earnings 3,552 3,552

Total income 498,247 1,238 305 3,868 7,600 511,258

Expenses

Benefits paid (406,883) (1,345) (1,148) (937) (5,055) (415,368)

Other expenses (39) (39)

Income tax expense (13,994) (1) (178) (357) (14,530)

Total expenses (420,916) (1,345) (1,149) (1,115) (5,412) (429,937)

Closing balance 2,017,044 4,186 3,300 33,197 57,312 2,115,039
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Appendix E: Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Members of Parliament 
 
Retirement Benefits Fund 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
 
Opinion 
 
I have audited the financial report of the Retirement Benefits Fund (the Fund), which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, income statement and statements of changes in 
member benefits, changes in reserves and cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the trustees declaration by 
Superannuation Commissioners. 
 
In my opinion, the accompanying financial report:  

(a) presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Fund as at 30 June 2018 
and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 

(b) is in accordance with the Audit Act 2008 and Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
I conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of my report. I am independent of the Fund in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 
Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
 
The Audit Act 2008 further promotes the independence of the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General is the auditor of all Tasmanian public sector entities and can only be removed by Parliament.  
The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate and is not subject to 
direction by any person about the way in which audit powers are to be exercised. The Auditor-
General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all documents and property and can 
report to Parliament matters which in the Auditor-General’s opinion are significant. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion.  
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Responsibilities of the Superannuation Commissioners for the Financial Report 
 
The Superannuation Commissioners are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, and the financial reporting 
requirements of the Audit Act 2008 and for such internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the Superannuation Commissioners are responsible for assessing 
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Fund is to be dissolved by an 
Act of Parliament, or the Superannuation Commissioners intend to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Superannuation Commissioners.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Superannuation Commissioners’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusion 
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is based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
I communicate with the Superannuation Commissioners regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 
 
 
 

 
 

Ric De Santi 
Deputy Auditor-General 
Delegate of the Auditor-General 
 
Tasmanian Audit Office 
 
17 October 2018 
Hobart  
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Contacting RBF 
Contact us if you would like additional  
information or assistance.

RBF Enquiry Line:  1800 622 631 or  
+61 2 8571 6868 (international)

Visit: www.rbf.com.au

Write:  RBF, Reply Paid 89418, 
PARRAMATTA NSW 2124

Email: rbf.enquiries@treasury.tas.gov.au

Office: Ground Floor,  
21 Kirksway Place,  
Hobart

Level 3, Henty House,
1 Civic Square,
Launceston


